ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County.

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
APR 06 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PERNELL BYAS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000673

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TIFFANY L. BUTLER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the indictment stated Appellant failed to register as a sex offender but the State disproved its own case with testimony that Appellant had been in compliance with his requirements to register as a sex offender.

II. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to quash the indictment where the indictment stated that Appellant did not register as a sex offender with Beaufort County but he was on trial for not updating his address.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 7, 1986, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct, first degree. R. 113 – R. 115 (State’s Exhibit 1). Appellant pleaded guilty to lewd act upon a minor on November 11, 1986, and was sentenced to ten years imprisonment. R. 113 – R. 115 (State’s Exhibit 1). On October 31, 2013, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted Appellant for failure to register as a sex offender, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 (1976) (2013-GS-70-1580). R. 116 – R. 121 (Indictment). The matter proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown on March 18, 2014. Jessica Saxon and Lauren Carroway represented Appellant. R. 2. Samantha Prinsen and Patrick A. Hall represented the State. R. 2.

After a one-day trial, Judge Brown found Appellant guilty and sentenced him to four years imprisonment. R. 102, lines 17-21; R. 111, lines 12 – 15. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the indictment stated Appellant failed to register as a sex offender, but the State disproved its own case with testimony that Appellant had been in compliance with his requirements to register as a sex offender.

Relevant Facts

Arthur Murray testified that in June or July of 2013, he rented Appellant a trailer at 10 Lemon Lane, Lot 1, in Beaufort County. R. 38, line 24 – R. 39, line 8; R. 41, line 16. After two and a half months, Appellant had not paid rent. R. 39, lines 9 – 17. Murray then initiated eviction proceedings against Appellant. R. 40, lines 1 – 6. He filed eviction papers and cut off the electricity where Appellant lived. R. 40, lines 8 – 18.

On cross-examination, Murray stated he cut off the power because the electric company notified him that the bill had not been paid. R. 42, line 14 – R. 43, line 1. Murray also conceded that he did not change the locks on the door and that Appellant had not moved any of the furniture out of the home. R. 43, lines 2 – 22. Murray never completed the eviction process. R. 44, lines 14 – 18. He explained that he did not have another address for Appellant to have the eviction papers served. R. 40, lines 8 – 12.

Agent Tyrone Hicks testified that he was in charge of GPS monitoring for Appellant. R. 46, lines 20 – 22. Agent Hicks stated that he had spoken with Appellant at Walmart in Beaufort on September 2, 2013. R. 51, lines 21 – 24. Appellant informed him that he had secured an address on Broad River Boulevard in Beaufort County. R. 51, line 23 – R. 52, line 1.

The final witness for the State was Staff Sergeant Katrina Light. R. 69, lines 6 – 7. Sgt. Light managed the sex offender registry for Beaufort County. R. 69, lines 23 – 25. She stated that she last completed a sex offender registration form for Appellant on July 2, 2013. R. 70, line 24 – R. 71, line 1. She and Appellant both signed the registration contract. R. 71, line 24 – R. 72, line 5. She explained that Agent Hicks called her to advise that Appellant had been evicted and was no longer living at his 10 Lemon Lane address. R. 75, lines 7 – 9. After her conversation with Agent Hicks, Sgt. Light obtained a warrant for violation of the sex offender registry. R. 75, lines 21 – 22.

On cross-examination, however, Sgt. Light conceded that Appellant was in compliance with his duty to register as a sex offender. R. 77, lines 1 – 7. She further admitted that the next date Appellant was scheduled to register was October 2, 2013. R. 77, lines 8 – 11. Because of Appellant's risk level, he was required to register every ninety days. R. 77, lines 12 – 14.

Motion for Directed Verdict

At the conclusion of the State's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict. R. 83, line 7 – R. 84, line 6. Counsel argued that the indictment specifically stated that Appellant failed to register as a sex offender. R. 83, lines 18 – 20. Sgt. Light admitted that Appellant was registered on July 2, 2013 and that he was not due to register again until October 2, 2013. R. 83, lines 20 – 25. Sgt. Light also agreed that Appellant was in compliance with his registration order. R. 83, line 23.

Defense counsel explained that “[b]ecause the law doesn't specify what out of the laundry list in the penalty section we're supposed to be defending against . . . the State has disproved its own case in its testimony.” R. 84, lines 1 – 5. Judge Brown denied

Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. R. 84, lines 20 – 21. He noted Appellant's objection for the record but denied the motion based upon his previous ruling regarding Appellant's motion to quash the indictment.¹ Defense counsel renewed the motion for a directed verdict. R. 92, lines 13 – 16. Appellant chose to put the State to its burden of proof and did not offer a defense.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the indictment stated Appellant failed to register as a sex offender, but the State disproved its own case with testimony that Appellant had been in compliance with his requirements to register as a sex offender.

The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that the constitution prohibits the criminal conviction of any person unless there is proof sufficient to convince the trier of fact of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2787 (1979) (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 361, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1071 (1970)). The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees that “no person shall be made to suffer the onus of a criminal conviction except upon . . . evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense.” Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. at 316, 99 S.Ct. at 2787; U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.

¹ As will be seen in issue two, Judge Brown denied Appellant's motion to quash the indictment. Appellant argued that he did not receive notice of which charge he was to defend against in court because the State indicted him under S.C. Code Ann. 23-3-470, which lists the penalties for violating the preceding sections.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has acknowledged that a criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 501, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595 (2010); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). The State has the burden of proof as to all the essential elements of the crime. State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 214, 428 S.E.2d 498, 501 (Ct. App. 1993). When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, a trial court should consider the existence or non-existence of evidence. Weston, 367 S.C. at 292, 625 S.E.2d at 648. When reviewing a trial court's denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Walker, 349 S.C. at 53, 562 S.E.2d at 315. A directed verdict motion is properly denied if there is direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused. State v. Lattimore, 397 S.C. 9, 12, 723 S.E.2d 589, 591 (2012); State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001).

In State v. Binnarr, 400 S.C. 156, 165, 733 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2012), the Court held the trial court violated due process in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal. In that case, Binnarr was charged with failing to re-register as a sex offender after the new biannual re-registration requirement was added to the sex offender registry statute. Id. at 164, 733 S.E.2d at 894. Detective Denise Catlett, the State's only witness in the Binnarr case, testified that she managed the Charleston County sex offender registry and mailed letters via first-class mail to all registered sex offenders in Charleston County notifying them of the change in the law. Id. at 159, 733 S.E.2d at 891. She stated that the letter mailed to Binnarr via regular mail was not returned as undeliverable. Id. at 160, 733 S.E.2d at 892. However,

a subsequent certified letter mailed to Binnarr notifying him of his failure to re-register was returned as unclaimed. Id. Detective Catlett admitted that Binnarr “may or may not have received either letter.” Id.

In addition to Detective Catlett’s testimony in Binnarr, the State could not produce a copy of the actual letter. Id. at 166, 733 S.E.2d at 895. The State failed to present evidence that Binnarr had actual notice of the change in law and his duty to re-register. The Court explained that due process requires notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. Id. at 165, 733 S.E.2d at 894. Because the State failed to produce any evidence “from which a jury could determine that [defendant] had actual notice of the change in the law” and, thus, his duty to re-register, “the trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal.” Id. at 168, 733 S.E.2d at 896.

Here, Appellant was indicted for failing to register as a sex offender with the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Department. Specifically, the indictment reads:

“That in Beaufort County, South Carolina, on or about September 12, 2013, the Defendant, Pernell Byas, did fail to register as a sex offender with the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Department after being instructed to do so, as required by Section 23-3-400, et seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, (1976, as amended)...”

R. 116 – R. 121 (Indictment).

Sgt. Light testified that Appellant had registered on July 2, 2013. R. 70, line 24 – R. 71, line

1. She admitted to being present on that day and both she and Appellant signed the registration contract. R. 71, line 24 – R. 72, line 5. On cross-examination, Sgt. Light agreed that because of his risk level, Appellant was required to register every ninety days. R. 77, lines 12 – 14. She conceded that Appellant “was in compliance as far as coming in to register.” R. 77, lines 6 – 7.

The State failed to present evidence that Appellant did not register as a sex offender as required by statute. On the contrary, Sgt. Light's testimony is direct evidence that Appellant did register as required and was not due to register again until October 2, 2013. Because the State failed to present any evidence that Appellant was guilty **of the charge in the indictment**, the judge erred by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal.

ARGUMENT

II. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to quash the indictment where the indictment stated Appellant did not register as a sex offender with Beaufort County but he was on trial for not updating his address.

Relevant Facts

Before trial, Appellant moved to quash the indictment because “the indictment [did] not meet the standards of notice and sufficiency that are required.” R. 10, lines 14 – 16. The indictment alleged that Appellant failed to register as a sex offender with Beaufort County, but that was not the offense he was charged with committing. R. 10, lines 16 – 20. Defense counsel argued that the indictment references S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400, which lists numerous offenses that are violations of the sex offender registry statute. R. 10, lines 21 – 23. Counsel explained that while the offenses are all sex offender registry violations, they are specific enough to be enumerated in the indictment to alert Appellant of what charge he is called upon to answer. R. 11, lines 3 – 8.

Counsel further argued that the violation specified in the indictment references S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470, which lists the penalties for each violation listed in the preceding sections of the sex offender registry statute. R. 11, lines 9 – 15. Defense counsel reasoned that the indictment does not notice Appellant of the offense he was charged with, failure to change his address. R. 11, lines 21 – 23. Failure to register as a sex offender and failure to change an address involve a “different set of facts and circumstances.” R. 11, lines 23 – 25.

The assistant solicitor replied that S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 is not broad because subsection (a) states:

“It is the duty of the offender to contact the sheriff in order to register and provide notification of change of permanent or a temporary address.”

R. 12, line 20 – R. 13, line 6.

She informed Judge Brown that the first line of that section is why they were in court. R. 13, lines 4 – 6.

Judge Brown denied Appellant’s motion to quash the indictment. R. 13, lines 21 – 22. He ruled that the indictment “more than adequately notices this defendant as to the charge he would have to meet.” R. 13, lines 23 – 25. He agreed with the assistant solicitor in that subsection (a) imposed a duty on Appellant to contact the sheriff’s department to register and notify of a change in permanent or temporary address. R. 13, line 25 – R. 14, line 3.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in denying Appellant’s motion to quash the indictment because the indictment did not notice Appellant as to which charge he would be called upon to answer at trial.

An indictment is a notice document. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005). An indictment is sufficient if “(1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged.” Id. at 102-103, 610 S.E.2d 500. Therefore, the sufficiency of an indictment is “not whether it could be made more definite and certain but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense . . . [to apprise] defendant of what he must be prepared to meet” in court. State v. Ham, 259 S.C. 118, 129, 191 S.E.2d 13, 19

(1972); State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 661, 623 S.E.2d 122, 131 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003).

An indictment passes legal muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime. State v. Guthrie, 352 SC 103, 107, 572 S.E.2d 309, 312 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing State v. Reddick, 348 S.C. 631, 637, 560 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2002)). If phrased substantially in the language of the statute which creates and defines the offense, the indictment is ordinarily sufficient. State v. Shoemaker, 276 S.C. 86, 88, 275 S.E.2d 878, 879 (1981) (citing State v. Tabor, 262 S.C. 136, 140, 202 S.E.2d 852, 853 (1974)). When determining the sufficiency of an indictment as a whole, a court should focus primarily on the charging language in the body of the indictment. Tate v. State, 345 S.C. 577, 581, 549 S.E.2d 601, 603 (2001). However, a court may consider whether the caption or title is consistent with the charging language. State v. Means, 367 S.C. 374, 384, 626 S.E.2d 348, 354 (2006).