ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
MAR 18 2015

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-000673

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

PERNELL BYAS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the State presented substantial evidence that Appellant had failed to provide notification of change of address to the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict for failure to register as a sex offender, arguing that the State disproved its own case with testimony that Appellant was in compliance with the requirements of the sex offender registry. Specifically, Appellant cites the testimony of Staff Sergeant Katrina Light of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office that Appellant had registered on July 2, 2013, and was required to re-register ninety days later, and thereby "was in compliance as far as coming in to register." (R. p. 77). Appellant asserts that this testimony amounts to "direct evidence that Appellant did register as required" and thereby fulfilled the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470. However, the trial court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because the State presented substantial evidence from which the trier of fact could reasonably conclude Appellant had violated his duties to register as a sex offender under S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 by failing to provide an updated address to the sheriff's office. Therefore, the trial court was required to deny the directed verdict motion. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial court should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the trier of fact if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992). On

appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial court's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial court's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial court's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial court's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986) (emphasis added).

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 sets forth the requirements for registration and notification pursuant to the Sex Offender Registry Act, as well as the penalties for violating the Act. Pursuant to this statute, “[i]t is the duty of the offender to contact the sheriff in order to register, **provide notification of change of permanent or temporary address**, or notification of change of employment, or in attendance, enrollment, employment, volunteer status, intern status, or vocation status at any public or private school, including, but not limited to, a kindergarten, elementary school, middle school or junior high, high school, secondary school, adult education school, college or university, and any vocational, technical, or occupational school. **If an offender fails to . . . provide notification of change of address . . .** as required by this article, he must be punished as provided in subsection (B).” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(A) (emphasis added). Penalties for violations are as follows: “A person convicted for a first offense is guilty of a misdemeanor and may be fined not more than one thousand dollars, or imprisoned for not

more than three hundred sixty-six days, or both; a person convicted for a second offense is guilty of a misdemeanor and must be imprisoned for a mandatory period of three hundred sixty-six days, no part of which shall be suspended nor probation granted; and a person convicted for a third or subsequent offense is guilty of a felony and must be imprisoned for a mandatory period of five years, three years of which shall not be suspended nor probation granted.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(B). In order to support a conviction for failure to register as a sex offender pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470, the State must prove that the defendant’s conduct was in violation of the statute.

In the present case, the State presented evidence that clearly established Appellant had violated S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 by failing to provide a current address (either permanent or temporary) to the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office once he stopped residing in the trailer on Lemon Lane. Although Appellant had previously registered as required on July 2, 2013, and was not required to register again for ninety days, he was required by statute to provide the sheriff’s department with notification of any new address, whether permanent or temporary, once he ceased residing in the Lemon Lane property. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State as required, Appellant had ceased living at the trailer on Lemon Lane and failed to provide an updated address to the sheriff’s office.

The State presented ample evidence that Appellant was no longer residing in the trailer. Murray testified that the electricity had been turned off in mid-August (thereby rendering it impossible for Appellant to charge his GPS monitoring bracelet every evening as required), that Appellant had given Murray back the key to the trailer, and that Appellant was no longer living in on the property and his whereabouts were unknown. (R. pp. 40, 42, 63). Agent Hicks testified Appellant informed him he was no longer living

in the trailer on Lemon Lane and had moved to Broad River Boulevard. (R. p. 51). Additionally, the State presented GPS tracking data of Appellant from September 1-15, 2013, showing that Appellant was not at the Lemon Lane property at all during this period. (R. pp. 48-9). The State also presented sufficient evidence that Appellant failed to notify the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office of his change of address. Staff Sergeant Light testified the address Appellant provided when registering in July was "10 Lemon Lane, Lot 3." (R. p. 73). Light testified Appellant acknowledged and initialed that he was required to provide notice of any change of address within three business days of establishing a new residence. (R. p. 74). Appellant failed to ever provide notification of his change of address to the sheriff's office despite explicitly telling Agent Hicks he had moved.

The only logical deduction from the evidence presented is that Appellant failed to provide notification of change of address to the sheriff's office after moving from the Lemon Lane trailer. Therefore, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. As this ruling was based on substantial evidence presented by the State, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

On appeal, Appellant seeks to negate the ample evidence presented by the State by relying exclusively on a portion of the cross-examination of Staff Sergeant Light where she stated that Appellant "was in compliance as far as coming in to register." (R. p. 77). However, this argument improperly disregards the substantial evidence provided by the State clearly showing that Appellant had changed residences and failed to provide proper notification as required under S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470. As the trial court is only concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight when presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the lower court properly denied

Appellant's motion. See Long, 325 S.C. at 62, 480 S.E.2d at 63; Robinson, 310 S.C. at 538, 426 S.E.2d at 319. Appellant's argument regarding Light's cross-examination testimony is better suited for an argument to the trier of fact and is not a sufficient basis for the grant of a directed verdict. Furthermore, the testimony from Light is not a legal conclusion that Appellant was compliant with S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 but merely evidence to be weighed by the trier of fact in conjunction with all other evidence and testimony presented. Based on the evidence presented, the trial court properly denied Appellant's direct verdict motion. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

II. The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to quash the indictment where the indictment provided Appellant with proper notice that he was charged with violating the sex offender registry pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470.

Appellant avers the trial court erred in denying his motion to quash the indictment because the indictment did not provide notice to him as to which charge he would be called upon to answer at trial. Particularly, Appellant argues that the statute cited within the indictment "lists several violations of the sex offender registry, which include failure to register, failure to notify of change of permanent or temporary address, AND failure to notify of change in employment or attendance at a school." Appellant contends that the indictment's language citing to the general statutory range of "Section 23-3-400, et seq." did not give him sufficient notice of the charges he faced, and he "had no idea what to defend against in court." Additionally, Appellant contends that the indictment states that he "fail[ed] to resister as a sex offender," which is a separate violation than failure to notify of a change of address, the offense he was to defend against at trial. However, Appellant's arguments are without merit. Appellant completely disregards the language in the indictment that Appellant was charged as committing a "sex offender registry violation" pursuant to Section 23-3-470. The indictment provided sufficient notice to Appellant as to his charge and what he would be required to defend. The trial court properly denied the motion to quash the indictment.

If a defendant wishes to challenge the sufficiency or validity of an indictment, the defendant must move to quash or dismiss the indictment prior to the jury being sworn. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-90 ("Every objection to any indictment for any defect apparent on the face thereof shall be taken by demurrer or on motion to quash such indictment before the jury shall be sworn and not afterwards."). Such a motion

challenging the sufficiency or validity of the indictment raises “a question of whether a defendant properly received notice he would be tried for a particular crime.” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 96, 654 S.E.2d 849, 852 (Ct. App. 2007). When a timely and proper challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment has been raised, the trial court is called upon to determine: (1) whether the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and to be able to make a decision as to whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and (2) whether the defendant is apprised of the elements of the offense intended to be charged. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 96-97, 654 S.E.2d at 852. If an indictment satisfies those conditions and, thus, is facially valid, the trial court should deny the defendant’s motion to quash or dismiss the indictment. See State v. Williams, 301 S.C. 369, 371, 392 S.E.2d 181, 182 (1990) (holding a motion to dismiss an indictment was properly denied because the indictment was facially valid and instructing the validity of an indictment is not affected by the character of the evidence considered by the grand jury); see also Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (“[A]n indictment passes legal muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood.”).

“While the court should focus primarily on charging language in the body of the indictment, a caption or title which is consistent with the language in the body of the indictment may be considered in conjunction with the body in determining the sufficiency of the indictment as a whole.” State v. Means, 367 S.C. 374, 384, 626 S.E.2d 348, 354 (2006) (internal citations omitted). The true test of sufficiency of an indictment is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the

necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprised the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (internal citations omitted).

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 94, 654 S.E.2d at 851 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Id. Accordingly, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings when the findings are supported by the evidence and not controlled by error of law. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220.

In the case at bar, Appellant was indicted for a “sex offender registry violation” pursuant to “Section 23-3-470 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina.” (R. * Indictment). The body of the indictment directs Appellant’s attention to the specific code section he was charged with violating –Section 23-3-470. Additionally, the face of the indictment cites to the particular subsection, 23-3-470(A), putting Appellant on further notice that he was charged with violating that particular provision of the sex offender registry. Based on this indictment, Appellant had notice that he was being charged with a violation of the sex offender registry pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(A) and would be required to defend against such at trial. Appellant knew he was being charged with violating the sex offender registry for either failing to register, failing to provide notification of a change of address, or failing to provide notification of change in employment, educational, or volunteer status. Therefore, the State satisfied notice requirements. See State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 649, 552 S.E.2d 745, 751 (2001) *overruled on other grounds by State v.*

Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) (“While the better practice is to set forth the elements of the crime in the indictment rather than referring to the statutory section alleged to have been violated, the indictment here was sufficient as it informed appellant of the elements of murder, including malice aforethought [by including ‘in violation of South Carolina Code of Laws § 16–03–10].’”). As this indictment contained the necessary elements of the offense charged and apprised him of what he must be prepared to defend against, the indictment was sufficient and the motion to quash was properly denied. See Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853.

Additionally, Appellant’s claims that his conduct did not amount to “failure to register” because he had registered on July 2, 2013 and was not required to register again for ninety days rings hollow. Based on S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470, proper and compliant registration requires that an offender provide his current address to the proper law enforcement entity. When an offender fails to do so, he is in violation of the statute and has failed to properly register. Therefore, Appellant’s registration became invalid when he moved to a new residence and failed to provide the sheriff’s department with notice. Consequently, Appellant was in violation of the sex offender registry for failure to properly register.

Furthermore, Appellant never asserted that he did not have sufficient notice of what he was called upon to answer or that his ability to present a defense was hindered by the indictment. He did not move for a continuance or otherwise claim surprise or a lack of sufficient notice to go forward with his case. Rather, in contrast Appellant was on such sufficient notice of what conduct he would be required to defend against at trial that he was able to craft a narrowly tailored motion to quash, noting that his conduct was in violation of a specific portion of S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(A) for failure to provide

notification of a change of address, not failure to register as a whole. Appellant was clearly aware of what he would be required to defend at trial. The trial court properly denied his motion to quash.

On appeal, Appellant contends that the indictment did not specifically include the language that he was being charged with failure to provide notification of a change of address. Thus, in essence, Appellant's arguments can be best summarized as a complaint that the indictment could have been more specific. However, this is not the standard that trial courts must employ when facing a motion to quash an indictment. See Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 ("The true test of sufficiency of an indictment is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprised the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.") (internal citations omitted). As the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to quash for the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm Appellant's convictions.

CONCLUSION